STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHN CHRISTOPHER HART,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001291

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

FEB 21 2019

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred in allowing the solicitor to argue in closing that appellant was “pure evil,” and that “evil walks the streets, evil lives in Lexington County, evil is in this courtroom,” since solicitors must tailor their remarks so as not to arouse the jurors’ passions or prejudices?

2.

Whether the court erred in admitting incriminating statements by appellant that were given in response to questions by Sergeant Mefford where appellant was in custody and had not been provided *Miranda* warnings, since statements stemming from custodial interrogation of a defendant are inadmissible absent *Miranda* warnings?

3.

Whether the court erred in denying defense counsel’s motion for a continuance where counsel continuously received discovery in the month leading up to trial, and the solicitor said the state “had been careful what it turned over,” since fundamental fairness dictates counsel be given additional time to prepare, particularly where counsel did not have time to investigate Jeremy Washington’s new statement since it was undisputed Washington said others made threats to kill the decedent?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 9, 2014, a Lexington County Grand Jury indicted appellant for the offense of murder. R. 1207 – 1208. Appellant was tried before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., and a jury, May 22 – 26, 2017. R. 58. Dayne Phillips represented appellant; D. Shawn Graham and Robert E. McNair represented the state. R. 58. Appellant was found guilty and was sentenced to incarceration for fifty years. R. 1209.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Paula Justice, the decedent, lived at America's Value Inn. R. 456, ll. 2-3. "She used drugs. She was a prostitute living day by day in hotels turning tricks. Worked as a confidential informant for Richland County," the solicitor offered. R. 1073, ll. 14-16.

A narcotics officer from the Richland County Sheriff's Department said the decedent "had access to large drug dealers that had large amounts of drugs." R. 531, ll. 9-15; R. 533, ll. 8-9. About a year before her death, the decedent and one Jeremy Washington were arrested with "several ounces of crack cocaine," and were charged with trafficking crack cocaine. R. 534, l. 20 – 535, l. 6.

The decedent was not working as a confidential informant at the time. R. 533, ll. 4-6. She "cooperated" with the investigation and pleaded guilty to a "reduced charge of trafficking ten to twenty-eight grams." R. 535, l. 25 – 536, l. 2; R. 549, l. 24 – 550, l. 11. Sentencing was deferred because the decedent "wanted to cooperate against Mr. Washington." R. 550, ll. 1-4. "She bonded out at some point during that continuance [requested by Washington's attorney] and then I was informed that she had been killed," a Richland County solicitor testified. R. 551, ll. 23-24.

On April 10, 2013, the day of the decedent's death, "[s]he had told [another resident at the motel] she was going with a guy named KG." R. 456, l. 8; R. 457, l. 7; R. 284, l. 24 – 285, l. 2. "She had told me that she was going with him because they had lined up some guys for her to go trick with." R. 457, ll. 9-10.

Robert Greenberg was a tow truck driver who was near Lumberjack Road when he heard a gunshot. R. 284, l. 1 – 285, l. 21. Shortly thereafter, he came upon the decedent's body lying on the side of the road. R. 286, ll. 1-7. The decedent died from a "gunshot wound to the head." R. 648, ll. 15-17. "She was found with a condom and a crack pipe on the scene." R. 329, l. 24 – 330, l. 3.

The decedent's cell phone was found on her person and showed she had recent communication with a contact listed as "KG." R. 318, ll. 18-22; R. 320, ll. 15-24. "KG was identified as a suspect because he was the last person that was seen with Paula Justice that day." R. 362, ll. 23-24. Police identified the appellant, Christopher Hart, as "KG." R. 362, l. 25 – 363, l. 4.

Appellant's girlfriend, Jessica Ussery, was being discharged from the hospital on April 10, 2013, and said appellant was supposed to give her a ride home but did not. R. 334, ll. 23-25; R. 336, ll. 4-6; R. 337, ll. 16-25. Ussery said appellant and Tevin Deloach came by her home to pick up some belongings the next day and left. R. 339, ll. 10-20. Ussery said that was the last time she saw appellant. R. 342, ll. 12-13.

Tevin Deloach initially denied involvement in Paula Justice's death. R. 391, ll. 17-21. However, Deloach and appellant were both charged with murder. R. 406, ll. 21-23. Deloach made bond on the murder charge but was subsequently arrested for committing first-degree burglary, grand larceny, and possession of a weapon. R. 443, ll. 5-10. Deloach was therefore facing the possibility of two life without parole sentences when he testified against appellant. R. 443, ll. 11-16.

Deloach said he was with appellant when they picked up the decedent. R. 414, ll. 10-22. Deloach claimed that as they were turning in to pick her up, appellant "said he was gonna set her up to kill her." R. 414, l. 24 – 415, l. 7. According to Deloach, he drove to Lumberjack Road, and appellant spoke to the decedent about Jeremy Washington, AKA "Munchkin" or "Fat Boy," and claimed appellant said, "he don't like snitches." R. 415, l. 22 – 417, l. 1; R. 539, l. 25 – 540, l. 6. Deloach claimed that he parked the car on Lumberjack Road, appellant and the decedent got out, and he "heard the gunshot and [appellant] ran back to the car with the gun in his hand." R.

420, ll. 2-5. Deloach alleged appellant made a phone call and “said something like it’s done.” R. 422, ll. 10-19. Deloach claimed that appellant killed the decedent “[b]ecause she was a CI and that Munchkin hired him to kill her for him so he wouldn’t have to go to jail.”¹ R. 422, ll. 24-25.

The state argued Tevin Deloach was telling the truth, but admitted that he was hoping for help from the state in exchange for testifying. R. 1091, ll. 4-7. “Does he want help for . . . testifying here in the courtroom? Of course he does.” R. 1091, ll. 5-7.

Alex Wallace took the stand at appellant’s trial and confessed that he, not appellant, was the person who killed the decedent. R. 877, ll. 10-11. Alex Wallace was also known by the nickname “KG” and grew up “walking distance” from where the decedent’s body was found. R. 880, ll. 1-14; R. 1037, ll. 8-17. Wallace was also charged with another murder in which he “shot another person in the head.” R. 878, ll. 8-12; R. 686, ll. 5-17.

Alex Wallace testified he killed the decedent because: “She owed me some money.” R. 877, ll. 12-13. Wallace told detectives that the decedent owed him twelve-hundred and fifty dollars and refused to answer his calls. R. 688, ll. 7-8. Wallace said he called appellant, since appellant knew the decedent, and asked appellant to “bring Paula to me. I told him that it was a money meeting about getting Paula to do prostitution.” R. 688, ll. 9-12. Wallace admitted that after appellant and the decedent arrived on Lumberjack Road, Wallace “shot her once in the back of the head.” R. 688, ll. 13-22. Wallace said he then ran back towards his house, which was nearby. R. 688, ll. 22-23.

¹ The state also introduced the testimony of Deandre Staley, who was an inmate at the Lexington County jail housed with appellant. R. 623, ll. 7-10. Staley claimed that while he was doing pushups appellant volunteered that he “bodied the bitch” because she was a confidential informant, and that Jeremy Washington set her up to be killed. R. 623, l. 17 – 624, l. 16.

Wallace said appellant was unaware he intended to kill the decedent. R. 877, l. 24 – 878, l. 1. Alex Wallace denied that he was only confessing because appellant asked him to “take” the charge.² R. 904, ll. 12-14.

Appellant took the stand and denied killing the decedent or knowing that she was going to be killed. R. 972, ll. 18-22. “I did not kill Paula Justice.” R. 972, l. 19. Appellant said that he knew the decedent and took her to Lumberjack Road for what he thought was going to be a “prostitution arrangement.” R. 973, ll. 20-23; R. 975, ll. 3-5. Appellant said he did not know that Alex Wallace was going to kill the decedent. R. 979, ll. 8-9. “I thought she was gonna trick, I was gonna get paid, take her back to where she came from, and it was gonna be over.” R. 975, ll. 8-11.

Appellant explained that after Justice was killed he went to New York because he had family there and because: “I was nervous and I went to the farthest spot that I could get to.” R. 996, ll. 11-20.

Officers learned that appellant “had been located and placed in custody in Utica, New York” on the murder warrant. R. 656, l. 24 – 657, l. 2. The court held a *Jackson v. Denno*³ hearing to determine the voluntariness of statements made by appellant to several officers while he was in custody. 193, l. 25 – 194, l. 2. One of the statements was made to Sergeant Roy Mefford of the Lexington County Sheriff’s Department over the telephone.

² The state called Terrence Flagler as a rebuttal witness. R. 1033, ll. 3-7. Flagler was Alex Wallace’s codefendant on Wallace’s other murder case. R. 1033, ll. 14-17. Flagler claimed that while he and Wallace were in jail, Wallace said that appellant had “brainwashed” him, and convinced him to take appellant’s charge. R. 1034, l. 14 – 1035, l. 20.

³ *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

Sergeant Mefford learned appellant had been arrested and detained in New York for the murder. R. 224, ll. 21-22. Sergeant Mefford telephoned the fugitive task force in New York: “[M]y intention was just to speak to the officer and just kind of get—get an idea of [appellant’s] demeanor and whether he was going to speak with me. He offered to let [appellant] speak to me directly.” R. 225, ll. 4-17. Sergeant Mefford then spoke with appellant on the telephone. R. 225, ll. 18-20.

Sergeant Mefford was unaware whether anyone in New York had provided appellant *Miranda*⁴ warnings and said that he did not provide appellant with *Miranda* warnings either: “I was simply asking if he would be willing to speak with us.” R. 218, ll. 14-17; R. 228, ll. 17-21. “I just asked him if he understood what he was being charged with . . .” R. 225, ll. 22-23. I “introduced myself, asked him if he understood what—what he was being charged with and asked him if he was willing to speak to investigators if I did send them up to New York.” R. 226, ll. 19-22.

Sergeant Mefford said appellant’s “initial response was to try to ask me details of the case, which I was not prepared or willing to do over the phone. R. 226, l. 25 – 227, l. 2. “I explained that to him, that I would not discuss any kind of evidence over the phone, and then he made the statement to me ‘How do you charge me with murder? You found a gun with my fingerprints on it?’, or something, and at that point I thought that was interesting because I had not given any details of . . . who he was alleged to have killed or how they were killed.” R. 227, ll. 5-12. Mefford said he did not provide appellant with *Miranda* notifications because he did not intend to interrogate appellant, but to ask if appellant would “be willing to speak with us.” R. 228, ll. 18-21.

⁴ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

Defense counsel argued appellant's statements to Sergeant Mefford should be excluded because: "[H]e was in custody, there was an interrogation, in other words, there were questions that were asked of him while being in—so custodial interrogation has been admitted that they did ask a question without providing *Miranda* warnings to him." R. 229, l. 23 – 230, l. 3; R. 652, ll. 7-8; R. 656, ll. 8-12; R. 748, l. 23 – 749, l. 12. Defense counsel argued the statements should be excluded because Sergeant Mefford was "calling an inmate on a murder case and asking them are you willing to speak and then not having a *Miranda* advisement." R. 232, ll. 11-14.

The state and the court agreed appellant was in custody. R. 232, ll. 22-24. "I agree he's in custody. Everybody can see that." R. 232, ll. 22-23. However, the solicitor said: "My argument is it's not interrogation because it's not a question likely to induce an incriminating response." R. 232, l. 25 – 233, l. 2.

The court found appellant's statements to Sergeant Mefford were "voluntary comment" that "came out not responsive to are you willing to talk with us . . ." R. 231, ll. 2-12; R. 656, ll. 8-12; R. 748, l. 23 – 749, l. 12. "[I]t would seem to me that the detective was not allowed the opportunity to give *Miranda* because [appellant] started talking before he could take the next step." R. 233, ll. 5-8. The court said: "[A]re you willing to talk to us, should I send two detectives to pick you up, are [you] gonna waive extradition was the tenor of the question, not did you do it." R. 230, ll. 9-12.

After Sergeant Mefford testified to the statement by appellant, appellant testified that he did not remember making the statement to Mefford; and that he did not say anything about a gun. 995, l. 20 – 996, l. 1.

Jeremy Washington was transported to South Carolina and charged with the murder of the decedent less than a week before appellant's trial began. R. 180, ll. 15-24; R. 160, l. 9 – 161,

1. 6. Defense counsel said: “The arrest warrant was given to me for Jeremy Washington yesterday. Jeremy Washington, a very critical witness in the case, was charged with murder now four years later.” R. 138, ll. 22-25. Defense counsel again moved for a continuance, noting that he had been receiving discovery throughout the month of April and up to the day of trial.⁵ R. 141, ll. 9-22. Defense counsel correctly explained that he had a “duty to conduct a reasonable investigation,” and noted it was “impossible” to be prepared, since he was still receiving discovery the morning of trial. R. 142, ll. 2-14.

Counsel submitted a written motion for continuance in which he detailed the items of discovery that trickled in to him through the months of April and May—the motion is court’s exhibit #2. R. 142, l. 15-16; R. 1156 – 1167. Court’s exhibit #3 is a disk containing the discovery defense counsel was provided from April up until the trial commenced, and is on file with this Court. Court’s exhibit #3 contains an FBI report of an interview with Jeremy Washington⁶ dated November 9, 2016, wherein Washington stated “he did not hire or ask anyone to kill Justice,” but “advised that he has stated openly on numerous occasions that he wanted Paula dead.” Court’s exhibit #3. “Washington added “I have said that I wish someone would murder that bitch’. Washington also advised that others have stated that they were going to ‘kill that bitch’, referring to Justice.” Court’s exhibit #3. At that time Washington was in federal custody in California. R. 160, ll. 23-24.

⁵ On May 8, 2017, defense counsel had also moved before Judge Griffith, who was both the trial judge and the chief administrative judge, for a continuance of the May 22nd trial date based on the fact that he continued to get new discovery and needed time to conduct a reasonable investigation. R. 43; R. 147, l. 22; R. 47, l. 12 – 48, l. 25; R. 49, 7, ll. 17-19.

⁶ Appellant directs this Court to a .pdf file of seventy-nine pages in length titled “Spivey- Full Report” at pages 62 and 63 of this portion of court’s exhibit #3.

Defense counsel was not provided this information until April 7, 2017. R. 162, ll. 8-22. The state asked that a disk containing one file of discovery it provided to defense counsel on August 16, 2016, and another file it provided to defense counsel on April 7, 2017, be made a court's exhibit. This disk is court's exhibit #16 and is on file with this Court.⁷

Defense counsel noted the solicitor had a "continuing duty to disclose" and yet "a lot of this discovery is one to four years old. . . ." R. 151, ll. 4-14; R. 143, ll. 4-9. Counsel argued appellant was being denied "the opportunity to present a full and complete defense under *Crane v. Kentucky*⁸ and, of course, *Washington v. Texas*⁹ . . ." R. 149, ll. 22 – 150, l. 2.

The solicitor replied that he believed: "that [appellant is] a high ranking member of the Blood gang and has the ability to reach out and touch people, so taking all of that into consideration I have been careful about what I turn over regarding people for fear that their name would be drug into this needlessly." R. 174, ll. 8-13. "That has been a consideration of mine." R. 174, l. 13. "I don't make a practice of waiting until the last minute, but there are reasons why, which I stated earlier about this case, that there's a particular time I think that's more appropriate than others to turn things over." R. 177, ll. 8-12.

In denying defense counsel's motion for a continuance, the court said: "I understand there was some late discovery provided." R. 181, l. 2. "[B]ut it doesn't seem to me like there was much provided by the State recently other than the changed story of the—Washington." R. 181,

⁷ A comparison of court's exhibit #3 and court's exhibit #16 shows that both the state and the defense agree that defense counsel was not provided the FBI reports regarding Jeremy Washington until April 7, 2017.

⁸ *Crane v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 683 (1986).

⁹ *Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14 (1967).

ll. 6-9. "I think the case is ready to be tried and should go forward, so respectfully I'm gonna deny that motion for continuance." R. 181, ll. 17-19.

In closing, the solicitor appealed to the jury's passions and prejudices by arguing the killing was: "Not even a robbery that goes bad, but pure evil." R. 1074, ll. 13-14. "Evil walks the streets. Evil lives in Lexington County." R. 1074, ll. 14-15. Defense counsel objected: "Objection. The evil characterization is improper." R. 1074, ll. 16-17. The court overruled the objection, saying: "Malice is an element the State's got to prove. He can argue what he thinks he's proved."¹⁰ R. 1074, ll. 18-22. The solicitor continued: "Evil is in this courtroom."

¹⁰ Even though the court surprisingly found the solicitor's argument that appellant was an evil person permissible, counsel felt strongly enough about this argument that he asked for a mistrial. R. 1117, l. 22 – 1118, l. 6; R. 1075, ll. 11-12.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred in allowing the solicitor to argue in closing that appellant was “pure evil,” and that “evil walks the streets, evil lives in Lexington County, evil is in this courtroom,” since solicitors must tailor their remarks so as not to arouse the jurors’ passions or prejudices.

Standard of review

“The trial court has broad discretion when dealing with the propriety of the solicitor’s argument, including the question of whether to grant a defendant’s mistrial motion. The trial court’s discretion will not be overturned absent a showing of an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law that prejudices the defendant.” *State v. Copeland*, 321 S.C. 318, 324, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996) (internal citations omitted).

Discussion

The solicitor improperly characterized appellant as evil in closing argument, and the court overruled defense counsel’s objection. A solicitor’s closing argument must not appeal to the personal biases of the jurors nor be calculated to arouse the jurors’ passions or prejudices. *Von Dohlen v. State*, 360 S.C. 598, 609, 602 S.E.2d 738, 744 (2004). “A solicitor’s closing argument must not appeal to the personal biases of the jurors. In addition, the argument may not be calculated to arouse the jurors’ passions or prejudices, and its content should stay within the record and reasonable inferences to it.” *State v. Copeland*, 321 S.C. 318, 324, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996). Solicitors must “confine their comments to the facts presented and reasonable inferences from such facts.” *Id.* at 326, 468 S.E.2d at 625.

“On appeal, the appellate court will view the alleged impropriety of the solicitor’s argument in the context of the entire record, including whether the trial judge’s instructions

adequately cured the improper argument and whether there is overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt." *Simmons v. State*, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998). "The appellant has the burden of proving he did not receive a fair trial because of the alleged improper argument. The relevant question is whether the solicitor's comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." *Id.* at 338, 503 S.E.2d at 166-67 (internal citations omitted).

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