ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Lexington County
Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN CHRISTOPHER HART,

Appellant

Appellate Case No. 2017-001291.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
FEB 21 2019
SC Court of Appeals

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Given the meaning of malice, the State’s use of “evil” in its closing argument in no circumstance rendered the trial fundamentally unfair. *Donnelly v. DeChristoforo*, *supra*. “A solicitor has a right to state his version of the testimony and to comment on the weight to be given such testimony.” *Humphries v. State*, 351 S.C. at 373, 570 S.E.2d at 166 (2002). With malice as an essential element of murder, it follows that the State could appropriately argue to the jury that the element of malice, by another definition, equated with evil. Indeed, the jury was properly instructed that malice may be equated with an evil intent. (R. p. 1126, lines 17-21). And, supported by our jurisprudence’s other intonations of the term malice, the State can freely argue to the jury that the Appellant acted with the requisite criminal intent: “a condition of the mind which shows a heart regardless of social duty and fatally bent on mischief.” *State v. Mouzon*, *supra*.

The prosecutor’s equating malice with evil also did not reach to Appellant’s character. The syntax in which the State utilized the term evil did not equate with the Appellant himself, but rather the idea that the element of malice lurked in the actions presented. *Contra State v. Day*, 341 S.C. 410, 423-24, 535 S.E.2d 431, 438 (2000) (use of defendant’s nickname “outlaw”

23 times during closing argument without purpose of proving any manner in controversy determined prejudicial impugment of defendant's character); *contra State v. Hawkins*, 292 S.C. 418, 422, 357 S.E.2d 10, 12-13 (1987), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991) ("Solicitor's intemperate" use of defendant's nickname "Mad Dog" a due process violation where evidence not overwhelming, use of nickname was not an invited response, and the trial court "did not clearly admonish the jury that arguments of counsel could not be considered as evidence"). Rather, the argument was crafted to highlight the element of the offense the State sought the jury to apply to the act charged. (R. p. 1074, line 1 – p. 1075, line 2; R. p. 1097, lines 2-4).

More, the prosecution's closing argument cannot be found to have prejudiced Appellant when considered "in the context of the entire record." *State v. Northcutt, supra*. Like the murder charge itself, the State delivered a closing argument mindful and reflective of the facts of the case: the victim suffered a fatal execution-style gunshot wound to the head. (R. p. 648, line 15 – p. 651, line 19). Evidence supported the State's theory that Appellant killed her because his drug supplier, Jeremy "Munchkin" Washington, directed him to complete the hit as retaliation for the victim's simultaneous entanglement as a middle-man drug dealer and confidential informant for law enforcement. (R. p. 422, lines 10-25; R. p. 426, lines 4-8; R. p. 534, line 8 – p. 535, line 6; R. p. 572, line 1 – p. 573, line 5; R. p. 837, line 25 – p. 838, line 19; R. p. 847, lines 22-24). It is reasonable to infer from the presentation of evidence, and thus permissible to argue, that the killing occurred at the hands of Appellant and that the circumstances of the murder equated with an evil act. *Humphries v. State, supra*.

II. Appellant volunteered an inculpatory statement to law enforcement while he was in custody but not subject to custodial interrogation. Thus, the trial court appropriately admitted the statement as one volunteered absent any *Miranda* requirement.

A. Standard of Review

A trial court's totality-of-the-circumstances determination of the voluntariness of a defendant's statement will not be disturbed absent an error of law. *State v. Franklin*, 299 S.C. 133, 138, 382 S.E.2d 911, 914 (1989). The clear error standard binds the appellate court to the "the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. This same standard of review applies to preliminary factual findings in determining the admissibility of certain evidence in criminal cases." *State v. Corley*, 383 S.C. 232, 239, 679 S.E.2d 187, 191 (Ct. App. 2009), *aff'd as modified*, 392 S.C. 125, 708 S.E.2d 217 (2011).

B. Appellant Volunteered a Statement Outside of Interrogation

When law enforcement in Lexington County learned that Appellant was in custody in Utica, New York, Sergeant Mefford contacted that law enforcement agency. (R. p. 225, lines 4-10). Mefford "had to make a decision [] whether or not to send the investigators there to try to make an attempt to speak with [Appellant]." (R. p. 224, lines 21-24; R. p. 228, line 25 – p. 229, line 2). Mefford intended simply to contact to the agent in New York to "get an idea of Mr. Hart's demeanor and whether or not he was going to speak" with the South Carolina officer(s), but the New York agent put Appellant on the phone with Mefford. (R. p. 225, lines 13-21). Mefford did not have knowledge concerning whether Appellant had been Mirandized. (R. p. 226, lines 14-17).

With no intention of interrogating Applicant, Mefford identified himself to Appellant over the phone. (R. p. 225, line 21 – p. 227, line 12; R. p. 228, lines 19-25). The extent of

Mefford's communication with Appellant was to ask "him if he understood what he was being charged with" and to ask "if he was willing to speak" with investigators from South Carolina if they arrived in New York. (R. p. 225, line 23 – p. 227, line 25). Mefford "was not prepared to willing to do" any type of telephonic interview with Appellant or divulge any of the details of the investigation at that time: "That's now how you do an interview for this serious nature of these charges . . . I explained to him that I would not discuss any kind of evidence over the phone." (R. p. 227, lines 1-12). Mefford, who spent nineteen years with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department, furthered that he acted in the same manner as he would have in the initial stage of any interview when he first asked Appellant if he was willing to speak. (R. p. 224, lines 7-9; R. p. 228, lines 21-23).

Appellant responded by questioning Mefford whether he had found a gun with his fingerprints on it. (R. p. 227, lines 7-12).

Mefford's testimony was reviewed at a pre-trial hearing pursuant to *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368, 84 S.Ct. 1774 (1964), and Appellant's objection to the admissibility of Appellant's response renewed during a sidebar prior to the State's presentation of Mefford at trial. (R. p. 656, lines 6-13; R. p. 748, line 23 – p. 749, line 13); *see also State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001) (requiring, for issue preservation, an additional objection contemporaneous to the evidence's introduction, even if the court ruled upon its admissibility *in limine*). The trial court upon each instance ruled Appellant's response to Mefford admissible, finding "the tenor" of Mefford's question concerned whether investigators should be sent to New York or whether extradition proceedings would occur. (R. p. 229, line 23 – p. 233, line 13).

The trial court correctly interpreted Mefford's actions as allowable without (or prior to)

the need for *Miranda*,⁶ that Appellant's "voluntary comment came before he could do that," and that Appellant's comment was "not responsive" to the question asked. (R. p. 231, lines 2-15). As found by the trial court, the nature and tone of Mefford's telephonic introduction to Appellant did not reach to that of a custodial interrogation. Mefford did not subject Appellant to interrogation when asking him if he would be willing to speak with officers from South Carolina if they arrived in New York because that question was not likely (nor was it calculated) to elicit an incriminating response. (See R. p. 232, lines 17-23). Thus, Appellant was not required to have been Mirandized by Mefford prior to the extent of their conversation. Further, any non-responsive answer by Appellant is admissible as an uninvited reply.

Miranda is required only "if a suspect in custody is subjected to interrogation. Interrogation is either express questioning or its functional equivalent. It includes words or actions on the part of police (other than those normally attendant to arrest and custody) that the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response." *State v. Easler*, 322 S.C. 333, 341-42, 471 S.E.2d 745, 750 (Ct. App. 1996), *aff'd as modified*, 327 S.C. 121, 489 S.E.2d 617 (1997); *State v. Sprouse*, 325 S.C. 275, 282, 478 S.E.2d 871, 875 (Ct. App. 1996) (citing *Arizona v. Mauro*, 481 U.S. 520, 107 S.Ct. 1931 (1987)).

In formulating the definition of interrogation, the United States Supreme Court has pointed out that "the concern of the Court in *Miranda* was that the 'interrogation environment' created by the interplay of interrogation and custody would 'subjugate the individual to the will of his examiner' and thereby undermine the privilege against compulsory self-incrimination." *Rhode Island v. Innis*, 446 U.S. 291, 299, 100 S.Ct. 1682, 1688 (1980). The Supreme Court defined interrogation as a circumstance that "must reflect a measure of

⁶ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 486, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966).

compulsion above and beyond that inherent in custody itself.” *State v. Howard*, 296 S.C. 481, 488, 374 S.E.2d 284, 288 (1988).

But of import here, “*Miranda* warnings are inapplicable to volunteered statements which are not the product of interrogation.” *State v. Easler* at 342, 471 S.E.2d at 750 (citing *State v. Howard*, 296 S.C. 481, 374 S.E.2d 284 (1988)). An inculpatory oral statement not made in response to any interrogation is deemed voluntary and admissible. *State v. Kennedy*, 325 S.C. 295, 307, 479 S.E.2d 838, 844 (Ct. App. 1996), *aff’d as modified*, 333 S.C. 426, 510 S.E.2d 714 (1998). “Volunteered statements of any kind are not barred by the Fifth Amendment.” *Id.* (citing *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966)). Our courts consistently uphold these types of volunteered statements to law enforcement. *State v. Primus*, 312 S.C. 257, 258, 440 S.E.2d 128, 128 (1994) (statement wholly volunteered by defendant outside of custodial interrogation admissible); *State v. Howard*, 296 S.C. at 489, 374 S.E.2d at 288 (statements made by defendant to his federal probation officer during a parole visit admissible where they occurred outside of any express questioning and where agent’s statements were not likely to invite an incriminating response); *State v. Thompson*, 276 S.C. 616, 623, 281 S.E.2d 216, 220 (1981) (conversation initiated by defendant during fingerprinting process admissible where officer’s statements were not reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response).

Inculpatory statements have been deemed nonresponsive, voluntary, and admissible even when uttered immediately prior to law enforcement’s issuance of *Miranda* warnings. *State v. Franklin*, 299 S.C. 133, 136, 382 S.E.2d 911, 913 (1989). In that case, the defendant made a series of damaging statements at the point where he was being advised by an investigator that he was being arrested for murder and that there was an ongoing investigation into a murder at a Holiday Inn. *Id.* at 135-36, 382 S.E.2d at 912-13. When the investigator in that case told the

defendant he wished to advise him of his rights, the defendant uttered that "all [he] did was hold him while [another person] beat him." *Id.* at 135, 382 S.E.2d at 912, The trial court admitted, and the appellate court upheld, the defendant's remarks as voluntary and "spontaneous utterances" made while interrupting the investigator, whose own statements during his arrest of the defendant did not amount to custodial interrogation. *Id.* at 136, 382 S.E.2d at 913.

In this case, Mefford asked Appellant "if he understood what he was being charged with" and "if he was willing to speak" with local law enforcement if Mefford sent them to New York. (R. p. 225, line 23 – p. 227, line 25). Mefford explained to Appellant that he would "not discuss any kind of evidence over the phone." (R. p. 227, lines 1-12). Appellant argues that because questions were asked, *Miranda* must apply. (Br. of App. at 18-20). But the circumstances of Mefford's contact with Appellant were not likely to elicit an incriminating response. Similar to *State v. Franklin, supra*, Appellant reacted to Mefford's communication in a non-responsive manner, volunteering a remark in response to Mefford's advising him of the charge against him. Mefford did not ask Appellant for any answers regarding the origin of the charge. Mefford was trying to work out logistics because he was faced with a suspect in custody a fifteen-hour drive away from his jurisdiction. *Miranda* was not required at this juncture. *Id.*; see also *State v. Kennedy, supra*; *State v. Easler, supra*.

The circumstances of Mefford's phone call failed to meet those in which Appellant could be found subject to custodial interrogation. Mefford, like the officer in *Franklin*, was neither expressly questioning Appellant about the charges levied against him, nor was Mefford executing the functional equivalent of express questioning. The conditions of their conversation did not subjugate Appellant to the will of the examiner. *Rhode Island v. Innis*, 446 U.S. at 299, 100 S.Ct. at 1688; *State v. Howard, supra*. Indeed, there was no examiner. While it is undisputed

that he was in the custody of a local agency in Utica, New York, at the time of the phone call, Appellant had no face-to-face contact with any law enforcement officer in South Carolina. That is to say, law enforcement was not towering over Appellant requiring him to speak to any officer or provide any answers in furtherance of the investigation. The circumstances of the phone call cannot be equated with an ordinary interrogation, which occurs in-person, sometimes in the presence of more than one law officer, and in a closed room where there may be audio or video recording taking place. There existed at the time of this phone call no physical or mental threat to overpower the will of the defendant. Thus, Mefford's telephonic contact with Appellant failed to present in a manner likely to elicit an incriminating response.

Because Mefford was not seeking to further the investigation but rather acted to ascertain the logistics required to transport Appellant to South Carolina, Appellant's statements in response to Mefford were admissible as statements made outside of custodial interrogation. *State v. Franklin*, at 136, 382 S.E.2d at 913. The circumstances in which Appellant responded to Mefford lacked those which may be found to have overpowered the will of the defendant. Thus, Appellant's reactionary statements made during the phone call were properly admitted as voluntary statements made without need for *Miranda*. *Id.*; *State v. Easler, supra*; *State v. Primus, supra*; *State v. Howard, supra*; *State v. Thompson, supra*; *State v. Kennedy, supra*.

C. Harmless Error Applies

"[A]ny error in the failure to suppress a statement allegedly taken in violation of *Miranda* is subject to a harmless error analysis." *State v. White*, 410 S.C. 56, 59, 762 S.E.2d 726, 728 (Ct. App. 2014). "The failure to suppress evidence for possible *Miranda* violations is harmless if the record contains sufficient evidence to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Lynch*,

375 S.C. 628, 636, 654 S.E.2d 292, 296 (Ct. App. 2007).

If the statement offered in response to Mefford's telephone contact is deemed the product of custodial interrogation, any error in the trial court's admission of the statement cannot be said to have contributed to the verdict obtained. As an initial consideration, any focus by Appellant on fingerprints was not corroborated by any forensic evidence presented at trial. Analysts did not recover any fingerprints from the weapon recovered from the pond. (R. p. 587, lines 1-11). Moreover, even had fingerprints been found, Appellant admitted at trial that he disposed of the gun himself, and that he picked it up from the scene following the murder. (R. p. 963, lines 2-8). Thus, any error in the admission of Appellant's telephone statements about fingerprints on the gun proves harmless when considered in the context of the entire trial because they do not reach to any fact in dispute.

III. No abuse of discretion occurred in the trial court's denial of Appellant's motion for continuance because the discovery at issue was disclosed over a month prior to trial and Appellant has failed to demonstrate how he was prejudiced by the manner of the particular disclosure argued on appeal.

A. Standard of Review

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